December 2017

The use of gene editing to create gene drives for pest control in New Zealand

Royal Society Te Apārangi Gene Editing Panel



EXPLORE DISCOVER SHARE

Background

The revolution in gene editing technologies is making it easier to change genetic material with huge potential benefits in many sectors including healthcare, agriculture and conservation. However, the technology to carry out gene editing and the ideas about how it might be applied are, in many cases, moving well ahead of the knowledge about how to safely effect the desired changes. For example, in conservation applications, gene editing could be used to make a native species resistant to disease, but this might accidentally make it more susceptible to drought.

As a technology, gene editing is rapidly moving ahead of any consensus on the rights and wrongs of how it should be used. So to explore the implications of gene editing technology for New Zealand, the Royal Society Te Apārangi has convened a multidisciplinary panel of some of New Zealand's leading experts to consider the social, cultural, legal and economic implications of revolutionary gene-editing technologies for New Zealand to:

- Raise awareness of the scientific possibilities and associated public issues of new geneediting technologies to inform debate
- Provide information and guidance for policy makers to address current and new issues needing to be clarified or resolved
- Show where gene-editing applications are covered by established policies and regulations and where changes are needed
- Provide a New Zealand perspective to the global discussion on this technology and identify where global consensus is important

This paper is one of a series¹ considering the implications of the technology in health, pest control, and agricultural situations, and is accompanied by a companion discussion paper inviting public feedback, and a fact sheet on how these technologies work and are being used and applied [1].

To help consider the implications for pest control in New Zealand, this paper² highlights three scenarios which raise specific considerations for three different types of pest. In particular, these case studies consider:

- The range of scientific complexities of developing a gene drive for different organisms
- The implications for the spread of animals with the gene drive to different countries.

¹ <u>https://royalsociety.org.nz/gene-editing/</u>

² derived from [2.] Dearden, P.K., et al., *The potential for the use of gene drives for pest control in New Zealand: a perspective.* Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand, 2017: p. 1-20.

Contents

Acknowledgements	2
Introduction	3
What are gene drives?	4
The science behind gene drives	5
Scenarios for the use of gene drives for pest control in New Zealand	5
Scenario 1: Insect pests in New Zealand Environmental rationale for control Current control options Technical/scientific considerations of gene drives International considerations Regulatory considerations Argentine Stem Weevil Australian sheep blowfly New pests	6 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
Scenario 2: The brushtail possum Environmental rationale for control Current control options Technical/scientific considerations of gene drives International considerations Regulatory considerations	9 9 9 9 10 10
Scenario 3: Rodents and stoats Environmental rationale for control Current control options Technical/scientific considerations of gene drives International considerations Regulatory considerations	10 10 10 10 11 11
Social considerations Social license to operate Māori cultural considerations	11 11 12
New Zealand regulation of the use of genetic modification for pest control HSNO Act Agricultural Compounds and Veterinary Medicines Act 1997 (ACVM Act) Royal Commission on Genetic Modification	12 14 15 15
International governance	15
Safety mechanisms for gene drives	16
Evolutionary resistance to gene drives	16
Appendix 1: Contributors to the technical paper	18
References	19

Acknowledgements

The technical paper was produced by a Royal Society Te Apārangi Expert Panel, with support and advice from a Māori Reference Group. The work of the Panel has been informed by consultation with a number of experts and organisations who have provided valuable input in contributing to and commenting on the paper (Appendix 1).

Introduction

The last two decades have seen a substantial increase in our knowledge and ability in genetics. Researchers have now developed tools, chief among them being CRISPR³, to enable the manipulation of specific genes within an organism's genetic material with greater and greater precision in the modification process, and fewer and fewer unintended changes elsewhere in the genome (see box 1). With their wide availability and simplicity, these gene-editing technologies are now being used to significantly accelerate research, and offer new treatments for a range of genetic diseases, while new agricultural products are beginning to be commercialized. However, alongside the development of the technology, the concept of genetic engineering, or genetic modification, has raised ethical and values-based questions in many societies.

Box 1: Gene editing with CRISPR Bacteria possess an immune system that recognises invading viral DNA and cuts it up, making the invading virus DNA inactive. This type of immune system is known as CRISPR (Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats) [3]. In 2012, it was discovered that by modifying this mechanism, it was possible to target and cut any DNA sequence and edit genomes [4]. Cells which have their DNA cut by CRISPR, will repair these cuts as 'instructed' if specific DNA repair information is provided. By altering this repair information, it is possible to change a gene of interest, for example, from one that causes disease to one that does not [5, 6].

Modern advances in gene-editing technologies now provide potential novel solutions for the challenges of pest control through the development of gene drives [7-10]. Much of the research on gene editing of pests published to date has concentrated on species that cause human diseases [11-15]. However as researchers begin to understand and consider the use of gene-editing techniques in pest control, more and more species are being considered as potential targets, from agricultural pests [16] to unwanted predators.

New Zealand has unique requirements when it comes to pest control [17]. New Zealand's natural and agricultural environments are beset with pest species, imported deliberately or accidentally. Pests range from mammalian omnivores such as the Brushtail Possum [18-21], that impact our native birds and their food sources, through to a wide assortment of predators such as rats, cats, stoats and ferrets, and insect predators such as *vespulid* wasps [22]. Weeds increasingly impact our ecosystem structure and integrity [23] and the recent discovery of the fungal disease myrtle rust threatens many native and valued plant species. Our marine and freshwater ecosystems are also threatened by pests such as sea squirts [24], koi carp [25] and invasive algae [26]. Our agricultural production ecosystems are threatened by crop and pasture pests such as leafroller moths and Argentine stem weevil [17], and weeds such as ragwort and dock. New Zealand also actively maintains a biosecurity cordon to inhibit the colonisation of our islands from new pest threats. Major biosecurity threats from pests include fruit flies (e.g. Queensland fruit fly and the Mediterranean fruitfly), the brown marmorated stink bug and lymantrid moths such as the gypsy moth.

Within our native ecosystems, intensive poisoning and trapping has been undertaken for many mammalian pests. As a result of their control, it is now known that these ecosystems rebound well after key pest suppression and removal [27-30]. In many places in New Zealand, including offshore islands [28, 29], isolatable peninsulas and predator-proofed ecosanctuaries, predators have been eradicated. The benefits of control to native wildlife have been immense, even extending outside

3 The use of gene editing to create gene drives for pest control in New Zealand

³ CRISPR in this paper is being used to refer to the CRSIPR-Cas9 gene editing technique.

such sanctuaries. The Zealandia ecosanctuary in Wellington has increased native bird life in the surrounding city to the point that a rare native parrot, the kākā, is considered by some to be becoming a local pest species itself [31]. New Zealand agencies have cleared many offshore islands of pests, including the removal of Norway rats from the 11,000 hectares of Campbell Island. New Zealand's expertise in this area is well recognised internationally [32].

New Zealand has led the way internationally in pest management, incorporating significant biological control. However, ongoing improvement in existing pest management methodologies and novel approaches are required as various classes of pesticides are being withdrawn for ecological and public health reasons [17]. While classical biocontrol has had success in pastoral ecosystems, there now appear to be emerging issues around possible pest resistance and limitation of further opportunities based on regulatory and social requirements [17].

New Zealanders understand the risks they face from invasive species, both economically and environmentally. To achieve significantly reduced impacts, greater diversity will be needed in available management tools. This has been accentuated by the recently announced goal to make New Zealand predator-free by 2050, with a focus on mammalian pests in natural ecosystems where the challenge is to achieve landscape level eradication. New Zealand is already at the forefront of developing new pesticides, trapping technologies, and biological control technologies, as well as using Trojan females and sterile insect techniques [33-35] (described below). A gene edited gene drive may offer a further opportunity to expand our arsenal for pest control in New Zealand, although the development of gene drives is still very much in its infancy, and possible implementation of a gene drive approach in New Zealand is still a long way off.

What are gene drives?

CRISPR gene editing can be used to create a 'gene drive' to spread a gene rapidly through generations. In sexual reproduction, one set of chromosomes is provided from each parent and combined in their offspring. If one set of chromosomes contains a 'gene drive' it will cut the partner chromosome that lacks the gene drive and copy itself onto this chromosome. In this way gene drives are a genetic system with the ability to 'drive' themselves and nearby genes through populations of organisms over many generations [1]. For example, in normal sexual reproduction, offspring inherit two versions of every gene, one from each parent. Each parent carries two versions of the gene as well, so chance (50:50) normally governs which particular variant of the gene will be passed on. But 'gene drives' ensure that a certain gene will almost always be passed on, allowing that variant to spread rapidly through a population (see Figure 1). In this way it would be possible, for example, to spread a gene that suppresses fertility in females in a pest species population.



Figure 1. Example of a gene drive in a mosquito population [1]

The science behind gene drives

In 2003, Austin Burt described how gene drive systems could be an efficient means for population suppression of pest insects [36]. A gene drive is a gene which creates an enzyme which cuts both strands of DNA within a targeted area of the genome and is copied across because of a DNA repair system. This DNA repair system is a 'rescue process', whereby an organism with a double-stranded break in its DNA will try and repair that break by copying any similar sequence it can find in the cell [37]. In the case of the gene drive cut, this leads to the gene drive being copied into the gap made by the gene drive itself. This then leads to guaranteed inheritance of the gene drive to all offspring and is the basis for the gene drive mechanism [36]. To be useful for population suppression, the targeted area for the gene drive should be within a gene essential for viability or fertility of the pest insect. Modelling has shown that suppression is particularly efficient if the gene drive is targeted to a gene essential for females but not males, or a gene required for germ-cell development or reproduction in one sex [36, 38].

The implementation of this system in the past has been hampered by the difficulty in modifying the gene drive to recognize a specified site within a specific genome [39] using previous genetic modification technologies. However, the advent of CRISPR technologies [40] has given new life to the gene drive idea. CRISPR makes use of a bacterial system that allows cells to cut invasive DNA that has been encountered previously [41]. The system consists of a cutting enzyme that can be targeted to any sequence using a small RNA sequence, called a guide RNA [41]. The combination of the DNA cutting enzyme and specific guide RNA that guides the enzyme to a particular sequence, provides the technology to cut and target the sequence required [42, 43]. In bacteria, the guide sequence at all. Using a guide RNA to target a specific sequence in a pest genome, a gene drive mechanism using CRISPR is easily able to target and modify recognition sites [44].

To illustrate a gene drive system, consider the situation of a release of a few genetically modified insects that carry a dominant fluorescent protein marker gene. All the offspring from mating between the fluorescent genetically modified insects and wild type (non-fluorescent) insects will be fluorescent as the fluorescence gene is a dominant one. Most likely these insects will mate with the numerous wildtype insects in the environment. From these matings, in the absence of a gene-drive, only half of the offspring will show fluorescence because of normal patterns of inheritance. In the following generation, even fewer of the population will show fluorescence because crossing with non-fluorescent wild type insects again only result in half the offspring carrying the fluorescence gene (represented in Figure 1). Now consider a release of a few insects carrying the fluorescent protein marker gene linked to a gene drive. As for the original non-gene-drive release, all the offspring from matings with wild type insects will cause a cut in the chromosome that does <u>not</u> contain the fluorescence gene and the insertion of a copy of the gene drive with the fluorescence gene. This repair process is likely to be near 100% efficient; all the gametes will contain a chromosome with the gene drive and the linked fluorescence gene. Thus, when the first-generation insects mate with wild type insects, all the offspring in this second generation will also be fluorescent. Further generations will continue to lead to the marker gene being driven into all offspring (see Figure 1).

Assuming that carrying the gene drive and marker gene have no negative effects on the animal's reproductive fitness in being able to pass its genes to the next generation, a 1% release could theoretically lead to 99% of the local population carrying the marker gene after just 9 generations [36, 38]. For population suppression, the gene drive would alter an essential gene, perhaps a gene essential for, for example, female development or fertility [36].

Scenarios for the use of gene drives for pest control in New Zealand

In view of the challenges around economically sustainable, effective nationwide pest eradication, the potential of genetic technologies, such as gene drive systems could be evaluated. In this review, a series of scenarios is used to examine the potential from such approaches for the control of three key pests in New Zealand. All three scenarios, outlined in Table 1, are discussed in terms of the pest control opportunities they present, along with technical, social and legal ramifications.

	Scenario 1: Insect	Scenario 2: Possums	Scenario 3: Stoats & Rats
Species	Vespine wasps, Argentine stem weevil, Australian sheep blowfly	Brushtail possums	Stoats & rats
Aim	Eradication	Eradication	Eradication
Justification: Conservation, Agriculture or other	Conservation & Agriculture. Wasps attack native birds and insects and deplete critical food resources.	Conservation & Agriculture: Predator on native birds & invertebrates, eats native plants, carrier for bovine TB	Conservation & Agriculture: Predator on native birds & invertebrates, eats native plants, carrier for diseases
Genetic target	Fertility or sex ratio	Fertility	Fertility or sex ratio
Nature of gene editing	Inactivation of gene	Inactivation of gene? (not yet known)	Insertion of new gene? (not yet known)
Affects target individuals or passed on to future generations	Passed on to future generations	Passed on to future generations	Passed on to future generations
Method of transmission of CRISPR gene edit: Virus, bacteria, compound, other.	Direct injection into embryo	Direct injection into egg cell	Direct injection into egg cell
Are non-naturally arising genes introduced into the genome?	No	No	No

Table 1. Three gene edited gene drive scenarios for pest control in New Zealand

Scenario 1: Insect pests in New Zealand

Invasive wasps

Environmental rationale for control

Two colony-living social wasp species in the genus *Vespula* were accidentally imported into New Zealand and became established here. These colony-living wasps are different from the many solitary species of wasps native to New Zealand, which have evolved here with other insects and plants over thousands of years, and have never been considered a nuisance. The common wasp (*V. vulgaris* (L.)), however, was first recorded from New Zealand in 1921 and became abundant in the 1970s [22]. The German wasp, *V. germanica* (F.), became widespread and abundant in New Zealand after an incursion in 1945 [45]. These Vespine wasps are both now distributed throughout New Zealand, with the common wasp as the dominant social wasp in beech forests [46]. They are especially abundant wherever there are large quantities of honeydew produced by scale insects. This honeydew provides considerable carbohydrate food resources and is plentiful in approximately a million hectares of native beech forest [47]. The world's highest recorded *Vepsula* densities are observed in New Zealand, with up to 40 nests per hectare [48] and numbers exceeding 370 wasps per square metre of tree trunk [49]. The biomass of *Vespula* in honeydew beech forests has been estimated as similar to, or greater than, the combined biomasses of birds, rodents and stoats [50].

The extreme abundance and effects of both these wasps has resulted in them being listed amongst '100 of the World's Worst Invasive Alien Species' [51]and as a 'critical issue' for New Zealand entomology [52]. Their large densities exert intense predation pressure on native invertebrates. For example, vulnerable species of native caterpillars were observed to have almost no chance of surviving to become adults during times of peak wasp population densities [53]. Similarly, the probability of an orb web spider surviving until the end of a wasp season is

effectively nil [54]. They are strong competitors with native predators [55], and these competitive effects over a short evolutionary period may have even altered the morphology of native species [56].

Economically, a recent analysis suggested these wasps annually cost approximately \$133 million to the New Zealand economy [57]. The direct economic impacts of wasps are largely associated with their predation on bees, with flow-on effects associated with impacts on pollination (in 2015 approximately 20% of beehive losses in the North Island were due to wasp attack [58]). This economic review also suggested wasps have substantial impacts on animal health, forestry, arable farming, horticulture, tourism, human health and even traffic crashes [57]. Wasps are one of the most dangerous and lethal animals for humans, and they periodically kill New Zealanders; approximately 1,300 people per year are estimated to seek medical attention as a result of wasp stings throughout New Zealand [59, 60].

Current control options

Effective wasp control options are currently limited to small-scale operations involving pesticides or other chemicals (e.g. petrol). These pesticides may be effective on relatively small scales but the use of toxins over large areas such as the 1 million hectares of beech forest currently overwhelmed with high wasp numbers is impractical. Prior attempts at self-sustaining options that would be suitable for such large area, such as biological control, have been unsuccessful [46, 61].

Potential future approaches

A variety of additional and 'next-generation' pest control approaches have been proposed and are being developed for wasps, funded through New Zealand's Biological Heritage National Science Challenge. These approaches include the use of the Trojan female technique, which utilizes the release of females with naturally occurring mitochondrial DNA defects that cause male infertility, and is seen as a novel and humane approach for pest population control [33]. Other approaches in the National Science Challenge include gene silencing⁴ technologies, the use of pheromones for mating disruption, which require annual replacement and use at each site, or biological control options [59]. These can all form part of a 'toolbox' approach that can be used in combination. The individual limitations of each approach highlight the need to expand the 'toolbox' to discover and refine new technologies based on a good biological understanding [17].

Another potential approach is the sterile insect technique, which involves the release of large numbers of sterile insects that mate with an established insect population, leading to an effective reduction in that population. In these techniques, some of which use genetic modification to create the sterile insects, a huge number of insects must be released to ensure that matings with sterile insects are more common than those between unmodified fertile insects. The sterile insect technique has been an effective approach for eliminating screw-worm, medfly and the Mexican fruit fly [62], and has recently been used to control mosquito populations in Brazil [63]. This technology has not been used broadly in New Zealand [64], perhaps because of the large number of insects needed for release, and the large cost associated with their production. In addition, social insects have only one reproductive individual per colony and so the impact for wasps of introducing a large number of sterile males in the region is uncertain.

Technical/scientific considerations of gene drives

The development of a gene drive system in wasps using CRISPR faces a number of challenges. Current gene drive methods would require genetic modification of the Common or German wasp genome, a technology not previously developed. Genetic modification of honeybees [65, 66] using CRISPR based approaches has been carried out, and given the similarities of social wasps and bees, it seems likely that this technical barrier will be able to be overcome. In both cases, microinjection of honeybee eggs or larvae was required to achieve transformation [65, 66]. Some understanding of the basic biology of wasp embryos will also be required for transformation to be achieved.

Another set of barriers to the development of gene drives in wasps is the nature of wasp genetics and their social organisation. Vespine wasps genetically are quite unlike other pest species already targeted by gene drive systems. These wasps, like many wasp species, have haplodiploid sex determining systems, meaning males are haploid (have one copy of their genome) and females are diploid (have two copies). Males develop, like clones, from unfertilised eggs laid by the queen. The alternative haploid and diploid generations may have significant, unknown consequences for the inheritance of a gene drive system.

The social organisation of the wasp hive, with a single queen and non-reproductive workers is also a critical factor in the development of gene-drive for these species. Rather than the approach used in mosquitoes of trying to spread a

⁴A gene silencing pesticide uses double stranded RNA to prevent the operation of targeted genes, and is applied as a pesticide.

gene drive that damages reproductive fitness in a population [11, 14], a gene drive system might fail if queens made defective by a gene drive system do not spread their genes, ensuring the gene drive will be rapidly removed from the population with little pest-control benefit.

Containing complex eusocial insect species (i.e. those with different worker castes, overlapping generations, and cooperative care for their young) is challenging and so it seems likely that computer modelling will be required to assess the potential impact of a gene drive system in a vespine wasp species, and to determine the optimum efficiency of a gene-drive approach in achieving wasp extinction. Computer modelling will also be required to understand how many modified wasps might need to be released, and where, to have the most significant effect.

International considerations

While *Vespula* wasps in New Zealand are a critical pest, in their native European range they are valued and important components of the ecosystem. Social wasps were not introduced deliberately to New Zealand, but have hitchhiked here [45], presumably in import cargo. Given this route of introduction, the use of any gene drive system must take into account the possibility that modified wasps might be transported to regions where these wasps are valued. While New Zealand would greatly benefit from eradication of these pests, their extinction here must not mean global extinction of the entire species.

Regulatory considerations

Genetically modified animals are defined as new organisms under the HSNO Act, and therefore wasps containing gene drive systems would be classified as 'new organisms'. Risk assessments of organisms produced through gene drive systems would be carried out under the provisions of the HSNO Act on a case-by-case basis by the Environmental Protection Authority. Importation of wasps with gene drives would also be regulated under the Biosecurity Act 1993.

Other possible insects of focus

Argentine Stem Weevil

Arthropod pests include such species as the Argentine Stem Weevil (*Listronotus bonariensis*). The Argentine Stem Weevil is native to Brazil, Uruguay, Argentina, Bolivia and Chile, and is a pernicious pest of pasture grasses that costs NZ up to \$250 million p.a. [67]. Biocontrol combined with endophyte-based plant resistance⁵ has kept the pest in check [68], but the effectiveness of the biocontrol agent (the parasitoid wasp *Mictroctonus hyperodae*) is decreasing, probably though genetic resistance arising from continual selection pressure [69, 70]. This is a critical problem, as it is possible that the full cost of the Argentine Stem Weevil may fall on New Zealand's pastoral industries. Thus, there is good reason to consider the use of genetic technologies.

Australian sheep blowfly

Despite its name the Australian sheep blowfly is native to Africa and North America. The blowfly causes large lesions on sheep and, left untreated, can prove fatal to the animal. It has huge animal welfare implications in NZ and Australia. The Australian blowfly is expected to have an increasing impact, both in incidence and in geographical spread, as a result of climate change. In contrast to wasps and weevils, development of a gene drive for genetic control of the Australian sheep blowfly *Lucilia cuprina* should be relatively straightforward. This is because the technology for germline (or hereditary) modification has already been developed [71, 72]. The technology, first developed in New Zealand, has since been adapted to the New World Screwworm, a blowfly that is a major pest of livestock in the Americas [73]. Further, the *transformer* gene has been shown to be essential for female but not male development [74] and thus would be a good target for a gene drive. Genetically modified strains of *L. cuprina* have been developed that produce only males, which could be used for a genetic control program [75, 76]. However, these strains have not been adopted by the sheep industry in New Zealand or Australia because of the rearing and distribution costs of their use in an eradication campaign, and the perceived difficulty in obtaining regulatory approval. A gene drive for population suppression would be much more economical as at least 100 fold fewer flies would need to be released [77].

New pests

Important arthropod incursion threats exist overseas that are still not present in New Zealand, but which could arrive. Species such as the Queensland fruit fly (*Bactrocera tryoni*), the brown marmorated stink bug (*Halyomorpha halys*),

⁵ An endophyte is a bacterium or fungus that lives with in a plant without causing disease. These endophytes can enhance resistance of host plant against insect herbivores by production of defensive compounds in the plant

and the glassy winged sharp shooter (*Homalodisca vitripennis*), would have major impacts on our predominantly agricultural economy if they became established here, attacking grapes, kiwifruit, apples, citrus and stone fruit, corn and many other valuable crops. Gene drives, because of the research needed to develop them, are unlikely to be useful as first-responses to a biosecurity incursion, but given that many pest species present biosecurity risks overseas, it may be possible in the future to utilise a gene drive developed for control elsewhere. For example, gene drive systems are being developed for spotted wing *Drosophila*, a fruit fly that is a major invasive pest of soft skinned fruits such as blueberries⁶.

Scenario 2: The brushtail possum

Environmental rationale for control

Perhaps New Zealand's most significant mammalian pest is the brushtail possum (*Trichosurus vulpecula*). This marsupial was first brought to New Zealand from Australia with the aim of establishing a fur industry in 1837 [78]. The possum, as it is known in New Zealand, found an environment with few of the challenges of Australia and grew to plague proportions in New Zealand forests. Along with eating native trees [20] and predating native birds [79] and invertebrates [80], the possum is also a carrier for bovine tuberculosis [81], and thus possum control is carried out for conservation and agricultural purposes. It is indeed this latter problem that has driven most of the current program of possum control in New Zealand. The ecology of possums in New Zealand is also well known, and has fed into computer models for exploring possum population dynamics under different control scenarios [82]. Consequently, it is possible to model the impacts of a gene drive in controlling possum populations in New Zealand.

Current control options

Possum control costs the New Zealand government approximately \$110 million /year [83], much of which is spent on aerial distribution of poison baits. Other approaches, such as traps and bait stations, are also used. These technologies are effective when animals are at high densities but become less effective as densities drop [84]. Gene drives and other genetic solutions may provide an opportunity to add to the 'toolbox' of approaches to achieve national eradication.

Technical/scientific considerations of gene drives

Although valued in their native range in Australia, possums are a pest unique to New Zealand and, as such, little work has gone into the development of novel methods of possum control beyond our shores. Over about twenty years, major projects were run in New Zealand, focused on establishing immunocontraception as a tool for possum control, which uses an animal's immune system to prevent it from fertilizing offspring [85]. While these projects were ultimately wound up, they did provide knowledge of possum reproduction and genetics [21] that may be useful in the era of gene editing and gene drives.

One key barrier that needs to be solved in possums, and is necessary for a gene drive, is the ability to genetically modify the organism, a feat never achieved in a marsupial. To do so would require the generation of reasonable quantities (100-1000s) of oocytes. Techniques for superovulation, and implanting embryos [86, 87] into possums have been developed as part of a reproductive control approach to possums [88], and could be used to generate oocytes for manipulation.

If genetic modification of possums is possible, there will be a need to identify what genes or processes should be targeted for a gene drive system. In comparison to the mouse, little is known about functional genetics in marsupials, mainly due to the lack of a well-established model system. Several marsupial genomes have been sequenced [89], providing a resource for further genetic work, but understanding the function of marsupial genes is only making slow progress. Some potential vulnerabilities are known, particularly around reproduction, milk production, and water balance, but there is still a lot of work to do to determine the viability of such targets.

With no well-established marsupial model system, the best option may be to adapt gene drives developed in mice that target genes or processes that are similar in possums. To this end, sequencing the possum genome, now underway as part of the Biological Heritage National Science challenge, is an important and necessary first step in developing a potential gene drive.

⁶ https://swdmanagement.org/

⁹ The use of gene editing to create gene drives for pest control in New Zealand

The use of possums with gene drives to control wild possum populations would require very large numbers of altered animals to be bred and released (1-10% of the wild population). Taking an average density of around one possum per hectare [90, 91], it would require a quarter of a million altered possums to be distributed throughout the country for a 1% release. This would involve successfully putting one altered possum into every 100 ha, including rugged back country.

International considerations

One area of concern is around the control and containment of a possum gene drive. As envisaged the gene drive would be specific to possums, likely targeted to a specific vulnerability such as fertility, with the only organisms affected being the offspring of those possums that mate with a possum possessing the gene drive. The spread of the gene drive would occur through the possum population as large numbers of gene drive possums were distributed throughout the country, and the possums disperse. This would be effective for the goal of widespread control and eradication in New Zealand. However, there would likely be an issue for Australia if a gene drive possum were to find its way or be deliberately released there, because in Australia brushtail possums are a protected species and an important part of many Australian ecosystems. While the likelihood of release may be extremely small, even the prospect of such an incident suggests the need for a means to turn off a gene drive. Currently, the only mechanism available to deliberately switch off a gene drive is to use another gene drive. However, recent work suggests that, over time, evolution will work to thwart gene drives (see below), so the issue of rare escapees may be less of an issue than anticipated. Nonetheless mechanisms to switch off a gene drive need to be thoroughly explored.

Regulatory considerations

As for wasps, genetically modified possums are defined as new organisms under the HSNO Act, and therefore possums containing gene drive systems would be classified as 'new organisms'. As with wasps, risk assessments of organisms produced through gene drive systems are carried out under the provisions of the HSNO Act on a case-by-case basis by the Environmental Protection Authority. In addition, the Animal Welfare Amendment Act (No 2) 2015 has amended the meaning of *manipulation* and includes reference to *genetic modification* and *killing*. The implications of this Act for this scenario are unclear for its use in pest management/control/ eradication, as 'genetic modification' and 'biological product' are not defined in the Animal Welfare Act.

Scenario 3: Rodents and stoats

Environmental rationale for control

Environmental rationale for control like possums, stoats are a predominantly New Zealand problem, with the Orkney and Shetland Islands the only other place on the globe that shares the problem of invasive stoats [92]. Stoats (*Mustela erminea*) are ferocious predators that do significant damage to many of our native bird populations and have contributed to the extinction of five native species [93]. Rats are also a very serious pest problem. In New Zealand there are three rat species: the ship or common rat (*Rattus rattus*), the Norway or brown rat (*Rattus norvegicus*) and the Polynesian rat or kiore (*Rattus exulans*). Of the three, the ship rat is of greatest conservation concern, but all prey on native species [94].

Current control options

These pests in New Zealand are currently controlled in many different ways depending on the target species, including the widespread use of biodegradable 1080 poison (sodium fluoroacetate), a naturally occurring metabolic poison most effective against mammalian pests [95]. 1080 is a cost-effective and safe pest control tool [96], especially when distributed by air in rugged, heavily forested terrain where trapping is not viable. However, its use remains controversial in some sections of the community [97]. Other pest control measures include innovative new approaches to trapping, including the development of self-resetting traps [98]. Technologies for identification of pests, and targeted removal have also improved [99] and many of these technologies are now available to the general public.

Current pest control measures, as demonstrated by the removal of pests from large offshore islands, are effective; but they are relatively expensive and take a lot of planning [17, 100]. Given the alternatives of a broad-range poison dropped from the air, and expensive and intensive trapping campaigns, gene-drive solutions could provide another avenue for pest control [44].

Technical/scientific considerations of gene drives

While New Zealand researchers have spent decades understanding the ecology, reproduction and, more recently, the genetics of possums, researchers are less well informed about many of these key issues for stoats [101]. One

potentially promising avenue to explore is to harness the significant efforts made in understanding the reproduction and genetics of mink, a related species valued for its fur that is farmed in parts of the Northern hemisphere [102, 103].

Unlike possums and stoats, rats are global pests that are implicated in food spoilage, the spread of diseases of global concern e.g. bubonic plague, and are a key conservation threat around the globe [104]. Thus, New Zealand might not have to solve the problem alone and active efforts are underway to tap into international initiatives now aimed at establishing gene drives for the control of invasive rodents [105]. Rats are also among the best-studied mammals, so there is no shortage of knowledge on reproduction or genomics, although most of this knowledge comes from the Norway rat, a well-established lab model that was among the first mammal to have its complete genome sequenced [106]. Less is known about the ship rat, although it has just had its genome sequenced by a New Zealand team, as a legacy project from the Allan Wilson Centre, which should provide an important stepping stone towards the challenge of establishing a gene drive for rats [107].

While establishing gene drives in rats will be less challenging than for stoats and possums, there are still significant practical barriers to establishing such a system. One of these is that rats are surprisingly hard to genetically manipulate [108]. Huge efforts have gone into solving this issue, with some progress made in recent years [109, 110]. However, this may be a major challenge to the use of gene drives for controlling rodents in New Zealand, and that mice (also a significant pest) might be the easiest species to target in the first instance.

Several international groups are looking to develop gene drive solutions for mice. One of the most advanced is a project that aims to link a sex determining factor to a naturally occurring gene drive to produce mice that produce predominantly male offspring [111]. While feasible in theory, there are multiple questions, as yet unanswered, that may thwart the efforts to use these in the wild to achieve population control [112]. For example, researchers do not yet know if the health, survival and reproductive success of mammalian species carrying such modifications might be impaired and how frequently mutations might arise in the gene drive or its cargo gene that could disable them. Robust modelling to explore the possibilities by which gene drives may fail, need to be undertaken in a similar way to those for insect systems [8].

As with possums, the use of gene drives to control wild populations of rodents and stoats would likely require the breeding and repeated release of very large numbers of altered animals over large areas.

International considerations

Globally, while rats are pests in many contexts, they are also important providers of ecosystem services e.g. pollination or critical elements of ecosystem food webs. Eradicating rats in New Zealand, where our ecosystems were free of rodents up until human arrival around 800 years ago, may have few knock-on effects. However, in other parts of the globe the effects on natural systems might be very different. Rats are very good invaders, disperse well, and hybridise with closely related species, making the accidental release and spread of gene drive modified rats a serious consideration. Stoats are less likely to be inadvertently spread, but they are an important animal in northern European ecosystems, so even the prospect of dispersal from New Zealand will mean the need for a means to turn off the gene drive.

Regulatory considerations

As for wasps and possums, genetically modified animals are defined as new organisms under the HSNO Act, and therefore stoats and rats containing gene drive systems would be classified as 'new organisms'. Risk assessment of organisms produced through gene drive systems are carried out under the provisions of the HSNO Act on a case-by-case basis by the Environmental Protection Authority. As with the use of a gene drive in possums, the implications of Animal Welfare Amendment Act (No 2) 2015 for this scenario are unclear for its use in pest management/control/ eradication, as 'genetic modification', 'biological compound' and 'management' are not defined in the Animal Welfare Act.

Social considerations

Social license to operate

Relational trust and communication between the public, government, and scientists will need to be healthy for new genetic technologies to be accepted. The idea of releasing a genetically modified organism that leads to the extinction of a species speaks to the darkest fears expressed about GM technology. That leading conservationists have expressed

similar fears⁷ only reinforces such concerns. The need to control invasive predators and pests is known, what is problematic is the way it is done and the unknown consequences on an ecosystem. While trapping and shooting are seen as acceptable by some, the use of poisons is more controversial, with protests about the use of 1080, in particular, occurring. In this environment, gene drive technologies might have a place because of their species specificity. Alongside this, there is jurisdiction under the Resource Management Act for local councils to control the use of genetically modified organisms via regional policy instruments⁸ and there may be implications of this on the use of gene drive pest control techniques.

Māori cultural considerations

From a Māori perspective, there are concerns that genetic modification, including gene editing, is at odds with Māori tikanga, in that it may interfere with natural processes pertaining to whakapapa and violate the tapu of different species. Māori communities will need to be well informed about the implications, benefits and risks associated with gene editing in pest control. Education and consultation will be central to empowering whānau, communities, hapū and iwi to assess the social, moral, ethical and health considerations of gene editing within different contexts and scenarios.

For the three scenarios, in Māori terms, the ethical considerations relate to whakapapa (of the organism, as well as the relationship/kinship between humans and other species), tika (what is right or correct), manaakitanga (cultural and social responsibility/accountability, e.g. to other nations who value wasps), and mana (justice and equity) [113]. Other relevant Māori values include tapu (restrictions), tiakitanga (guardianship), and whānaungatanga (support of relatives). Implicit in those considerations would be the question of who stands to benefit from the introduction of a gene drive in this scenario; what are the risks to the ecosystems of other nations; and where do Māori accountabilities lie in terms of the outcomes [114]. In addition, broader impacts on Māori also need consideration, including any negative financial impacts on whānau that may arise, and the assurance of Māori participation in decision making regarding use of these technologies.

As part of this project, Māori perspectives and broader cultural contexts are being sought by the Panel in a parallel process.

New Zealand regulation of the use of genetic modification for pest control

Genetic modification in New Zealand, such as using gene editing on a pest to include a gene drive, is regulated primarily by central government through the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act (1996) (HSNO Act). Gene drives will be regulated by the HSNO Act if they come within the definition of an 'organism' and 'new organism' in this Act. 'Organism' is defined in the HSNO Act and includes a genetic structure (other than a human cell) that is capable of replicating itself, whether that structure comprises all or part of the entity⁹. The definition of 'new organism' includes genetically modified organisms (GMOs) and organisms belonging to species that were not present in New Zealand prior to July 1998¹⁰. The definition of a GMO is expressly defined in supporting regulations¹¹, but otherwise the HSNO Act defines GMOs as 'any organism in which any of the genes or other genetic material have been modified by in vitro techniques; or are inherited or otherwise derived, through any number of replications, from any genes or other genetic material which has been modified by in vitro techniques' (see Figure 2). The EPA can make a rapid assessment for 'low risk genetic modification'¹².

⁷ <u>http://www.etcgroup.org/files/files/final_gene_drive_letter.pdf</u>

⁸ http://www.mfe.govt.nz/more/hazards/risks-new-organisms/what-are-new-organisms

⁹ HSNO Act, s2(1)

¹⁰ HSNO Act, s2A

¹¹ HNSO Act, SR 1998/219

¹² HSNO Act s 41(c) and SR 2003/152 r 4



Figure 2. Summary of the process determining a new organism according to the HSNO Act

It is unlawful to import, develop, field-test and release any 'new organism' without approval from the Environmental Protection Authority. If there is uncertainty about whether an entity is a GMO (or even an 'organism' or 'new organism'), there is a formal determination the Environmental Protection Authority can undertake pursuant to the HSNO Act (s 26). The HSNO Act is enforced at the New Zealand border under section 28 of the Biosecurity Act 1993.

The case studies evaluated in this paper highlight a complicated regulatory framework with many 'grey' areas. The current regulatory framework may permit gene editing for pest control in containment and for release, as each application is assessed on a case by case basis. An application would need to be made to the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) for approval under the HSNO Act for development and field testing in containment. Further applications would be required for release from containment, and controls may be imposed by the EPA. The HSNO Act further prescribes the mandatory assessment and decision-making process for applications, including a risk assessment of the new organism's effect on native species, biodiversity, and natural habitats¹³. The EPA will decline the application if the minimum standards cannot be met.

The following legislation and associated amendments require evaluation alongside the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996, for pest control using gene editing technologies (See Figure 3):

- Animal Welfare Act 1999 and the Animal Welfare Amendment Act (No 2) 2015 (Animal Welfare Act)
- Agricultural Compounds and Veterinary Medicines Act 1997(ACVM Act)
- Biosecurity Act 1993 (Biosecurity Act) Conservation Act 1987 (Conservation Act)

importation or release is to import or release an organism to cause disease, be a parasite, or a vector for disease. HSNO Act, section 37. Additional matters to be considered:

¹³ HSNO Act, section 36. Minimum standards:

The Authority shall decline the application, if the new organism is likely to-

⁽a) cause any significant displacement of any native species within its natural habitat; or

⁽b) cause any significant deterioration of natural habitats; or

⁽c) cause any significant adverse effects on human health and safety; or

⁽d) cause any significant adverse effect to New Zealand's inherent genetic diversity; or

⁽e) cause disease, be parasitic, or become a vector for human, animal, or plant disease, unless the purpose of that importation or release is to import or release an organism to cause disease, he a parasite are vector for disease.

The Authority, when making a decision under section 38, shall have regard to-

⁽a) the ability of the organism to establish an undesirable self-sustaining population; and

⁽b) the ease with which the organism could be eradicated if it established an undesirable self-sustaining population.

Figure 3. New Zealand legislation influencing gene editing technologies in animals and organisms



NZ Regulation: Gene editing & gene drives in pest control & primary industries

Regulatory process

There is, however, no clear regulatory framework for specifically evaluating gene drive technologies as a method for controlling pests

HSNO Act

The HSNO Act has been described as a comprehensive, strict and rigorous code [115] and additional amendments sought to increase restrictions following release of the organism, including reassessment (section 63), conditional release (section 38) and clarifying the meaning of genetically modified organism (Statutory Regulation 1998/219, r 3(ba)).

Regulation of genetically modified organism under the HSNO and Resource Management Acts have been challenged in the New Zealand courts. Most notable was the Scion case¹⁴, which clarified the classification of gene edited organisms as 'genetically modified organisms' for the purposes of the HSNO Act¹⁵. The Northland Regional Council case clarified that Regional Councils control the use of genetic modification through their regional policies and district plans under the Resource Management Act¹⁶. Both of these cases have wide ranging implications for New Zealand and are not limited to genetically modified crops. Central government consequently amended regulations to clarify the exemptions to the HSNO Act (EPA, HSNO Act SR 1998/219). Central government has also amended legislation (Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2017) introducing a new regulation making power to prohibit or remove specified rules or types of rules by Territorial Authorities that would duplicate, overlap, or deal with the same subject matter that is included in other legislation. Rules that regulate the growing of GM crops do not apply¹⁷.

¹⁴ The Sustainability Council of New Zealand Trust v The Environmental Protection Authority [2014] NZHC 1067.

¹⁵ The High Court Judge ruled that the exemption list in the Regulations is a closed list. The conclusion was based on an interpretation of the language of the Regulation and that the regulations did not prescribe factors for the EPA to add other techniques to the list. The Judge interpreted the HSNO Act and the regulations as not implicitly giving the EPA discretionary power to add to the exemption list and ruled that the EPA could not expand the exemption list to include techniques similar to chemical mutagenesis and adding to the exemption list was a political decision, not an administrative decision.

¹⁶ Federated Farmers of New Zealand v Northland Regional Council [2015] NZEnvC 89.

¹⁷ Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2017, s 360D.

New Zealand has a network of legal instruments and treaties that require consideration alongside review of the HSNO Act, when introducing new biotechnologies. These include the Treaty of Waitangi¹⁸ (the Waitangi Tribunal Report recommending that Māori have a greater interest in genetic modification¹⁹) and the Resource Management Act 1991 (the ability of regional councils to control the use of genetically modified organisms through regional policy statements or district plans). A recent amendment to the Resource Management Act has introduced a new provision that allows the prohibition or removal of certain rules that would duplicate, overlap with, or deal with the same subject matter that is included in other legislation²⁰.

Agricultural Compounds and Veterinary Medicines Act 1997 (ACVM Act)

In addition to the HSNO Act, the Agricultural Compounds and Veterinary Medicines Act 1997 (ACVM Act) has possibly the greatest effect on this technology. Depending on the interpretation of 'veterinary medicine', a gene drive intervention could be regulated under the ACVM Act and thereby assessed under the Conditional Release and Release statutory provisions in the HSNO Act (potentially bypassing the Containment provision).

A veterinary medicine, according to the ACVM Act (s 2(1)), means any substance, mixture of substances, or biological compound used or intended for use in the direct management of an animal.

• Note that direct management is not defined in the Act.

The HSNO Act defines a 'qualifying veterinary medicine' as a veterinary medicine that is, or contains, a new organism and meets the criteria set out in section 38I(3) of the HSNO Act.

- A new organism has the same meaning in the ACVM Act and in section 2A of the HSNO Act.
- A qualifying organism means a new organism that is or is contained in a qualifying veterinary medicine (HSNO Act, s 2(1)).

Royal Commission on Genetic Modification

The 2001 Royal Commission on Genetic Modification report concluded that, 'New Zealand should preserve its opportunities by allowing the development of genetic modification whilst minimising and managing the risks involved.' The Royal Commission's overall strategy was supported by the Government. However, the Government required that research practices adhere to strict safety guidelines, including secure containment, thereby limiting discretion when determining the conditions of the research. Government also required a precautionary approach to be exercised in the operation of the HSNO Act (s 7): 'All persons exercising functions, powers and duties under this Act including, but not limited to, functions, powers, duties under sections 28A, 29, 32, 38, 45, and 48, shall take into account the need for caution in managing adverse effects where there is scientific and technical uncertainty about those effects'.

International governance

The Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety (the Biosafety Protocol) is designed to address the biosafety risks presented by GMOs when these move across borders. Established under the Convention on Biodiversity, this international treaty is founded on the principle of prior informed consent with respect to the transboundary movement of living modified organisms (LMOs). It puts a duty on an exporting party to seek prior informed consent from the destination country (Article 7). However, the procedures only work for intended movements across the border of a single nation. The protocol does not define best practice guidelines, for example, for standards for assessing effects, estimating damages, or mitigating harms [75]. While these may be seen as 'gaps', it could also be argued that best practice

¹⁸ NZ Law Commission (2002). Liability for loss resulting from the development, supply, or use of genetically modified organisms. Study Paper 14.The Law Commission looked into the issue of liability for loss resulting from GMOs and described the adverse cultural effects of GM on Maori: "Concerns have also been raised by Maori, which arise from a different belief structure, Although the basis for many of the Maori cultural objections to genetic modification vary among iwi, they are usually based around impacts on whakapapa, mauri, kaitiakitanga and rangatiratanga. The traditional Maori worldview considers all parts of the natural world to be related through whakapapa. Genetic modification risks interfering with such relationships, and threatens the sanctity of mauri (life principle) and wairua (spirit) of living things. Concluding that genetic modification may affect Maori's ability to be kaitiaki (guardians) of their taonga and particularly their ability to care for valued flora and fauna".

¹⁹ Anna Kingsbury (2011). Intellectual Property. WAI 262. NZ Law Journal, September 2011, 273.

²⁰ Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2017

guidelines are best left out of such rigid instruments. The related Nagoya-Kuala Lumpur Supplementary Protocol on Liability and Redress identifies response measures in the event of damage to the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity resulting from living modified organisms that result from transboundary movements. It does not define rules governing liability and redress for damage, but requires Parties to either apply their existing general law on civil liability or develop specific legislation that addresses (as appropriate): damage; standard of liability (including strict or fault-based liability); channelling of liability where appropriate; and the right to bring claims.

Concerns around the potential unintended impacts of gene drives were highlighted in a US National Academies of Science review of gene drives [116] which noted:

"Gene drives do not fit well within the existing regulatory logic of confinement and containment because they are designed to spread a genotype through a population, making confinement and containment much more difficult (or even irrelevant) and the environmental changes introduced by release potentially irreversible.... Research on gene drives is global. Responsible governance will need to be international and inclusive, with clearly-defined global regulatory frameworks, policies, and best practice standards for implementation."

This will have implications for New Zealand's international social license to develop gene drives that could potentially threaten other countries' native species.

Safety mechanisms for gene drives

In their 2014 article, Esvelt and colleagues outlined a variety of uses for CRISPR gene drives in human health, agriculture and the environment [44]. Importantly, the authors noted that the potential efficiency of CRISPR gene drive systems posed a requirement for a high certainty of laboratory containment before they are deemed safe to move out of the laboratory. They suggested parallel development of a 'reversal' gene drive that would restore the original gene, but with a slightly different sequence that would not be targeted by the original guide RNA.

Although Esvelt *et al.* [44] had highlighted the need for safeguards, the ease and efficiency of the CRISPR-mediated gene drive in the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* [7] was a surprise to many. These results have led to wide discussion of the risks of gene drives. Recently, scientists working on CRISPR [117] recommended a number of safeguards, including:

- 1. Perform gene drive experiments outside the ecological range of the organism (e.g. *Anopheles* mosquito in Boston). Consequently, if any individuals do escape the laboratory they would likely perish and/or have no potential mates.
- 2. Use a laboratory strain that cannot reproduce with wild organisms.
- 3. Have a high level of laboratory containment, using multiple substantial physical barriers. In practice, this could be a higher level of containment than is currently recommended for transgenic strains of the species of interest (i.e. for organisms containing genetic material into which DNA from an unrelated organism has been artificially introduced). For example, using air blast fans and higher precautions to prevent escape (e.g. sealing possible escape routes).

In 2016, another safety mechanism was developed, called the 'daisy-chain' gene drives [118], which gradually vanish after 50-100 generations. To create these gene drives that don't spread indefinitely, the gene drive is split into three or more parts to create a 'daisy chain'. Each part contains a genetic element that drives the next element in the chain so that element A can only copy and paste itself if element B is present. Element B can only copy and paste itself if element C is present. And element C, crucially, cannot copy and paste itself at all – it can only spread by normal breeding, to half of offspring. When the gene drive animals are released, they carry all three elements. Then, when they mate with their wild counterparts, all the offspring will inherit element A and B, but only half will inherit element C. In the following generations, element B will spread rapidly and A will spread even more rapidly, but C will gradually die out. Once it does, B will start to disappear, and finally A will too. By adding more elements to the daisy chain, the gene drive could be made to persist longer in the wild. This could allow the use of gene drives locally without the worry about the risk of worldwide spread.

Evolutionary resistance to gene drives

The promise of gene drives lies in their inherent ability to rapidly move target alleles to fixation in a very short period of time to generate a desired effect on a population. If all individuals within a population are susceptible to the gene drive linked gene, then it is predicted that the gene drive version of the gene will rapidly spread. However,

substitutions, insertions or deletions within the DNA adjacent to the gene drive that occur through natural mutational processes or during gene-drive mediated DNA cutting are expected to lead to a resistant version of the gene [8]. Most cells also have an alternative pathway for repairing double-stranded breaks, known as non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) [119]. With NHEJ, the broken ends of DNA are fused together without regard to matching similar sequences. Errors during this repair process can lead to small deletions or insertions in the genetic code, called mutations. In many cell types, this type of repair can outnumber repairs that try to copy similar sequences in the cell. A NHEJ mutation of the gene drive recognition site would suppress its targeting accuracy [36].

Because many resistant versions of the gene will have greater Darwinian fitness than the gene drive gene, population level resistance to the gene drive is expected to appear [8]. In fact this is what was observed in the laboratory-based gene drive experiments on *Anopheles gambiae* mosquitos [14] and *Drosophila* [120].

In addition to the gene drive process generating resistant versions of the gene, it is also predicted that many pest species will harbour genetic variations resistant to the gene drive construct. While gene drive approaches have not been used in the field, many species targeted for control via gene drives harbour significant levels of genetic variation, especially insects which are likely early targets for gene drive. In these cases, under known mutation rates and with large population sizes, mutations in the DNA adjacent to the gene drive sequence are inevitable. If these variants lie within the target region of the gene drive then, as with the mutant gene versions generated though NHEJ, it is expected that these gene versions will be selected for and subsequently lead to individuals resistant to the gene drive. For example, [121] measurements of genetic variation in *Anopheles gambiae* across Africa through whole genome resequencing found that approximately half of the potential gene drive target sites had variants in the wild that would disrupt targeting by the gene drive construct.

How can resistance be overcome? Detailed population genomic surveys of the target pest species would need to be employed to assess variation across all potential gene drive target sites. Ideally, this would include whole genome resequencing to detect the presence of variants across potential target sites. These data would also yield information to guide the identification of alternative target sites in the same gene or alternative genes. This approach would also have the advantage in aiding the prediction of off-target effects. Large numbers of individuals would need to be assayed as resistant versions of genes are expected to be strongly selected for, even from very low initial frequencies [8]. Based on the population genomics results from *An. gambiae* [121], gene drives are unlikely to work unless multiple genes and multiple target sites within those genes are targeted. Increasing the number of target sites in the genome leads to a corresponding increase in the probability of off-target effects with the associated safety and ethical concerns. The use of multiple guide RNAs could also be used to target a wide range of gene variants [14]. Again, this approach requires detailed knowledge of gene variation. A further approach could be to target a conserved region of a biologically essential gene [44].

Another implication of this resistance is that intentionally releasing a resistant gene into a population could be an effective means of reversing the effects of a gene drive [122].

For further information

For more information and resources about gene editing, visit the Society's web pages: https://royalsociety.org.nz/gene-editing/, or contact info@royalsociety.org.nz,

Appendix 1: Contributors to the technical paper

Members of the Expert Panel

- Dr David Penman, Director, David Penman and Associates
- Professor Barry Scott FRSNZ, Professor of Molecular Genetics, Massey University
- Dr Jane Allison, Senior lecturer, Institute of Natural & Mathematical Sciences, Massey University
- Associate Professor Thomas Buckley, Research Priority Leader/Invertebrate Systematics, Landcare Research
- Associate Professor Peter Dearden, Director, Genetics Otago, University of Otago
- Professor Alexei Drummond FRSNZ, Professor of Computational Biology, University of Auckland
- Professor Gary Hawke FRSNZ, Associate Senior Fellow, New Zealand Institute of Economic Research
- Professor Mark Henaghan FRSNZ, Dean, Faculty of Law, University of Otago
- Irene Kereama-Royal, Research Partner Rangahau, Maori and Development, Unitec
- Prof Lisa Matisoo-Smith FRSNZ, Professor of Biological Anthropology, University of Otago
- Associate Professor Susan Morton, Clinical Senior Lecturer, School of Population Health, University of Auckland
- Professor Richard Newcomb, Chief Scientist, Plant & Food Research
- Professor Joanna Putterill, Professor in Plant Molecular Genetics, University of Auckland
- Professor Stephan Robertson, Curekids Professor of Paediatric Genetics, University of Otago
- Dr Phil Wilcox, Senior Lecturer, Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Otago

Special contributors

• Dr Julie Everett-Hincks (Research Assistant, Law Faculty, Otago University)

Society staff support

- Dr Marc Rands, Senior Researcher, Royal Society Te Apārangi
- Dr Roger Ridley, Director Expert Advice & Practice, Royal Society Te Apārangi

The Society would like to thank the following experts for their valuable input in contributing to and commenting on the paper:

- Associate Professor Peter Fineran (Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Otago)
- Professor Neil Gemmell (Department of Anatomy, University of Otago)
- Professor Travis Glare (Bio-Protection Research Centre Director and Professor of Applied Entomology, Lincoln University)
- Professor Stephen Goldson FRSNZ (Principal Scientist, AgResearch)
- Kevin Hackwell (Chief Conservation Advisor, Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society of New Zealand)
- Professor Phil Lester (School of Biological Sciences, Victoria University of Wellington)
- Professor Maxwell Scott (Professor of Entomology, NC State University)

Staff from the Ministry for the Environment; Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment; Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade; Department of Conservation; the Environmental Protection Authority; and the Office of the Prime Minister's Chief Science Advisor were also consulted in developing this paper.

References

- 1. Royal Society of New Zealand, *Gene editing technologies: summary of evidence*. 2016, Royal Society Te Apārangi: Wellington, New Zealand.
- 2. Dearden, P.K., et al., *The potential for the use of gene drives for pest control in New Zealand: a perspective.* Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand, 2017: p. 1-20.
- 3. Marraffini, L.A., CRISPR-Cas immunity in prokaryotes. Nature, 2015. 526(7571): p. 55-61.
- 4. Jinek, M., et al., *A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity.* Science, 2012. **337**(6096): p. 816-21.
- 5. Soldner, F., et al., *Parkinson-associated risk variant in distal enhancer of* α *-synuclein modulates target gene expression*. Nature, 2016. **533**(7601): p. 95-9.
- 6. Yin, H., et al., *Genome editing with Cas9 in adult mice corrects a disease mutation and phenotype.* Nat Biotechnol, 2014. **32**(6): p. 551-3.
- 7. Gantz, V.M. and E. Bier, *Genome editing. The mutagenic chain reaction: a method for converting heterozygous to homozygous mutations.* Science, 2015. **348**(6233): p. 442-4.
- 8. Unckless, R.L., A.G. Clark, and P.W. Messer, *Evolution of resistance against CRISPR/Cas9 gene drive*. Genetics, 2016: p. genetics. 116.197285.
- 9. Webber, B.L., S. Raghu, and O.R. Edwards, *Opinion: Is CRISPR-based gene drive a biocontrol silver bullet or global conservation threat?* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2015. **112**(34): p. 10565-10567.
- 10. Champer, J., A. Buchman, and O.S. Akbari, *Cheating evolution: engineering gene drives to manipulate the fate of wild populations.* Nature Reviews Genetics, 2016. **17**(3): p. 146-159.
- 11. Gantz, V.M., et al., *Highly efficient Cas9-mediated gene drive for population modification of the malaria vector mosquito* Anopheles stephensi. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2015. **112**(49): p. E6736-43.
- 12. Adelman, Z.N. and Z. Tu, *Control of Mosquito-Borne Infectious Diseases: Sex and Gene Drive*. Trends Parasitol, 2016. **32**(3): p. 219-29.
- 13. Alphey, L., Can CRISPR-Cas9 gene drives curb malaria. Nat. Biotechnol, 2016. 34(2): p. 149-150.
- 14. Hammond, A., et al., *A CRISPR-Cas9 gene drive system targeting female reproduction in the malaria mosquito vector* Anopheles gambiae. Nat Biotechnol, 2016. **34**(1): p. 78-83.
- 15. Windbichler, N., et al., A synthetic homing endonuclease-based gene drive system in the human malaria mosquito. Nature, 2011. **473**(7346): p. 212-215.
- 16. Perkin, L.C., S.L. Adrianos, and B. Oppert, *Gene disruption technologies have the potential to transform stored product insect pest control.* Insects, 2016. **7**(3): p. 46.
- 17. Goldson, S., et al., *New Zealand pest management: current and future challenges.* Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand, 2015. **45**(1): p. 31-58.
- 18. Tyndale-Biscoe, C., *Observations on the reproduction and ecology of the Brush-tailed possum*. Trichosurus Vulpecula Kerr (Marsupialia), *in New Zealand*. Australian Journal of Zoology, 1955. **3**(2): p. 162-184.
- 19. Gilmore, D., *Seasonal reproductive periodicity in the male Australian Brush-tailed possum* (Trichosurus vulpecula). Journal of Zoology, 1969. **157**(1): p. 75-98.
- 20. Pekelharing, C. and C. Batcheler, *The effect of control of brushtail possums* (Trichosurus vulpecula) *on condition of a southern rata/kamahi* (Metrosideros umbellata/Weinmannia racemosa) *forest canopy in Westland, New Zealand.* New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 1990. **13**: p. 73-82.
- 21. Montague, T.L., *The brushtail possum: biology, impact and management of an introduced marsupial*. 2000: Manaaki Whenua Press, Lincoln.
- 22. Donovan, B., *The common wasp is here.* New Zealand Beekeeper, 1983. **180**: p. 9-10.
- 23. Williams, J.A. and C.J. West, *Environmental weeds in Australia and New Zealand: issues and approaches to management.* Austral Ecology, 2000. **25**(5): p. 425-444.
- 24. Fletcher, L.M., B.M. Forrest, and J.J. Bell, *Impacts of the invasive ascidian Didemnum vexillum on green-lipped mussel Perna canaliculus aquaculture in New Zealand.* Aquaculture Environment Interactions, 2013. **4**(1): p. 17-30.
- 25. Tempero, G.W., et al., *Age composition, growth, and reproduction of koi carp* (Cyprinus carpio) *in the lower Waikato region, New Zealand*. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research, 2006. **40**(4): p. 571-583.
- 26. Kilroy, C. and M. Unwin, *The arrival and spread of the bloom-forming, freshwater diatom, Didymosphenia geminata, in New Zealand.* Aquatic invasions, 2011. **6**(3): p. 249-262.
- 27. Graham, M. and C. Veitch, *Changes in bird numbers on Tiritiri Matangi Island, New Zealand, over the period of rat eradication.* In Veitch.C.R and Clout M.N. (eds.) Turning the tide: the eradication of invasive species, 2002: p. 120-123. IUCN SSc Invasive Species Specialist Group. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK.

- 28. Clout, M. and J. Russell, *The eradication of mammals from New Zealand islands*. Assessment and control of biological invasion risks. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland, 2006.
- 29. Howald, G., et al., *Invasive rodent eradication on islands*. Conservation biology, 2007. **21**(5): p. 1258-1268.
- 30. Mulder, C.P., et al., *Direct and indirect effects of rats: does rat eradication restore ecosystem functioning of New Zealand seabird islands?* Biological Invasions, 2009. **11**(7): p. 1671-1688.
- 31. Charles, K.E., *Tree damage in Wellington as a result of foraging for sap and bark-dwelling invertebrates by the North Island Kaka* (Nestor meridionalis septentrionalis). Notornis, 2012. **59**: p. 180-184.
- 32. Butler, D., T. Lindsay, and J. Hunt, *Paradise Saved: The Remarkable Story of New Zealand's Wildlife Sanctuaries and How They are Stemming the Tide of Extinction*. 2014: Random House New Zealand.
- 33. Gemmell, N.J., et al. *The Trojan female technique: a novel, effective and humane approach for pest population control.* in *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 2013. **280**(1773): p.20132549.
- 34. Wolff, J.N., et al., *Mitonuclear interactions, mtDNA-mediated thermal plasticity, and implications for the Trojan Female Technique for pest control.* Scientific Reports, 2016. **6**: p. 30016.
- 35. Xu, J., et al., *Transcription activator-like effector nuclease (TALEN)-mediated female-specific sterility in the silkworm,* Bombyx mori. Insect Molecular Biology, 2014. **23**(6): p. 800-807.
- 36. Burt, A., Site-specific selfish genes as tools for the control and genetic engineering of natural populations. Proc Biol Sci, 2003. **270**(1518): p. 921-8.
- 37. Jasin, M. and R. Rothstein, *Repair of strand breaks by homologous recombination*. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 2013. **5**(11): p. a012740.
- 38. Deredec, A., A. Burt, and H.C. Godfray, *The population genetics of using homing endonuclease genes in vector and pest management*. Genetics, 2008. **179**(4): p. 2013-26.
- 39. Stoddard, B.L., *Homing endonucleases: from microbial genetic invaders to reagents for targeted DNA modification.* Structure, 2011. **19**(1): p. 7-15.
- 40. Hsu, P.D., E.S. Lander, and F. Zhang, *Development and applications of CRISPR-Cas9 for genome engineering*. Cell, 2014. **157**(6): p. 1262-78.
- 41. Horvath, P. and R. Barrangou, *CRISPR/Cas, the immune system of bacteria and archaea.* Science, 2010. **327**(5962): p. 167-170.
- 42. Bassett, A.R. and J.L. Liu, *CRISPR/Cas9 and genome editing in* Drosophila. J Genet Genomics, 2014. **41**(1): p. 7-19.
- 43. Beumer, K.J. and D. Carroll, *Targeted genome engineering techniques in* Drosophila. Methods, 2014. **68**(1): p. 29-37.
- 44. Esvelt, K.M., et al., *Concerning RNA-guided gene drives for the alteration of wild populations*. Elife, 2014: p. e03401.
- 45. Clapperton, B., H. Möller, and G. Sandlant, *Distribution of social wasps* (Hymenoptera: Vespidae) in New Zealand in 1987. New Zealand Journal of Zoology, 1989. **16**(3): p. 315-323.
- 46. Beggs, J.R., et al., *Ecological effects and management of invasive alien Vespidae*. BioControl, 2011. **56**(4): p. 505.
- 47. Beggs, J., *The ecological consequences of social wasps* (Vespula spp.) *invading an ecosystem that has an abundant carbohydrate resource.* Biological Conservation, 2001. **99**(1): p. 17-28.
- 48. Lester, P.J., et al., *The long-term population dynamics of common wasps in their native and invaded range.* Journal of Animal Ecology, 2017. **86**(2): p. 337-347.
- 49. Möller, H., et al., *Effect of introduced social wasps on the standing crop of honeydew in New Zealand beech forests.* New Zealand Journal of Zoology, 1991. **18**(2): p. 171-179.
- 50. Thomas, C., et al., *The prevalence of introduced* Vespula vulgaris *wasps in a New Zealand beech forest community*. New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 1990. **13**: p. 63-72.
- 51. Lowe, S., et al., 100 of the world's worst invasive alien species: a selection from the global invasive species database. 2000. http://www.issg.org/pdf/publications/worst_100/english_100_worst.pdf
- 52. Lester, P., et al., *Critical issues facing New Zealand entomology*. New Zealand Entomologist, 2014. **37**(1): p. 1-13.
- 53. Beggs, J.R. and J.S. Rees, *Restructuring of Lepidoptera communities by introduced Vespula wasps in a New Zealand beech forest.* Oecologia, 1999. **119**(4): p. 565-571.
- 54. Toft, R.J. and J.S. Rees, *Reducing predation of orb-web spiders by controlling common wasps* (Vespula vulgaris) *in a New Zealand beech forest*. Ecological Entomology, 1998. **23**(1): p. 90-95.
- 55. Grangier, J. and P.J. Lester, A novel interference behaviour: invasive wasps remove ants from resources and drop them from a height. Biology Letters, 2011. **7**(5): p. 664-667.
- 56. Burne, A.R., J. Haywood, and P.J. Lester, *Density-dependent effects of an invasive wasp on the morphology of an endemic New Zealand ant.* Biological Invasions, 2015. **17**(1): p. 327-335.
- 57. MacIntyre, P. and J. Hellstrom, *An evaluation of the costs of pest wasps* (Vespula species) *in New Zealand*. International Pest Control, 2015. **57**(3): p. 162.
- 58. Landcare Research. *NZ COLOSS Survey*. 2017; Available from: <u>http://www.landcareresearch.co.nz/science/portfolios/enhancing-policy-effectiveness/bee-health.</u>

- 59. Lester, P., et al., *The outlook for control of New Zealand's most abundant, widespread and damaging invertebrate pests: social wasps.* NZ Sci Rev, 2013. **70**(4): p. 56-62.
- 60. Welton, R.E., D.J. Williams, and D. Liew, *Injury trends from envenoming in Australia, 2000–2013*. Internal Medicine Journal, 2017. **47**(2): p. 170-176.
- 61. Beggs, J., et al., *Evaluating the impact of a biological control parasitoid on invasive Vespula wasps in a natural forest ecosystem.* Biological Control, 2008. **44**(3): p. 399-407.
- 62. Dyck, V.A., J. Hendrichs, and A.S. Robinson, *Sterile insect technique*. Principles and Practice in Area-Wide Integrated Pest Management. 2005: Springer. The Netherlands.
- 63. Waltz, E., *GM mosquitoes fire first salvo against Zika virus*. 2016, Nature Biotechnology. Vol.34. No. 3. p.221-222
- 64. Horner, R., et al., *Use of the sterile insect technique in New Zealand: benefits and constraints.* NZ Plant Prot, 2016. **68**: p. 296-304.
- 65. Schulte, C., et al., *Highly efficient integration and expression of piggyBac-derived cassettes in the honeybee* (Apis mellifera). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2014. **111**(24): p. 9003-9008.
- 66. Kohno, H., et al., *Production of Knockout Mutants by CRISPR/Cas9 in the European Honeybee*, Apis mellifera L. Zoological Science, 2016. **33**(5): p. 505-512.
- 67. Lincoln University Agricultural Economic Research Unit, *Estimates of cost to New Zealand from the Argentine Stem Weevil*, Lincoln University Agricultural Economic Research Unit. Lincoln University.
- 68. Barker, G.M., *Biology of the introduced biocontrol agent Microctonus hyperodae* (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) *and its host Listronotus bonariensis* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) *in northern New Zealand*. Environ Entomol, 2013.
 42(5): p. 902-14.
- 69. Goldson, S., et al., *If and when successful classical biological control fails*. Biological Control, 2014. **72**: p. 76-79.
- 70. Goldson, S.L. and F. Tomasetto, *Apparent acquired resistance by a weevil to its parasitoid is influenced by host plant.* Frontiers in Plant Science, 2016. **7**: p.1259
- 71. Heinrich, J., et al., *Germ-line transformation of the Australian sheep blowfly* Lucilia cuprina. Insect Molecular Biology, 2002. **11**(1): p. 1-10.
- 72. Concha, C., et al., Organization and expression of the Australian sheep blowfly (Lucilia cuprina) hsp23, hsp24, hsp70 and hsp83 genes. Insect molecular biology, 2012. **21**(2): p. 169-180.
- 73. Concha, C., et al., A transgenic male-only strain of the New World screwworm for an improved control program using the sterile insect technique. BMC biology, 2016. **14**(1): p. 72.
- 74. Concha, C. and M.J. Scott, *Sexual development in* Lucilia cuprina (Diptera, Calliphoridae) *is controlled by the transformer gene.* Genetics, 2009. **182**(3): p. 785-798.
- 75. Oye, K.A., et al., Regulating gene drives. Science, 2014. 345(6197): p. 626-628.
- 76. Yan, Y. and M.J. Scott, *A transgenic embryonic sexing system for the Australian sheep blow fly* Lucilia cuprina. Scientific Reports, 2015. **5**: p. 16090.
- 77. Scott, M., et al., *Agricultural production: assessment of the potential use of Cas9-mediated gene drive systems for agricultural pest control.* 2017, Journal of Responsible Innovation.
- 78. Clout, M. and N. Barlow, *Exploitation of brushtail possum populations in theory and practice*. New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 1982. **5**: p. 29-35.
- 79. Brown, K., J. Innes, and R. Shorten, *Evidence that possums prey on and scavenge birds' eggs, birds and mammals.* Notornis, 1993. **40**(3): p. 169-177.
- 80. Owen, H.J. and D.A. Norton, *The diet of introduced brushtail possums* Trichosurus vulpecula *in a low-diversity New Zealand Nothofagus forest and possible implications for conservation management.* Biological conservation, 1995. **71**(3): p. 339-345.
- Corner, L. and P. Presidente, Mycobacterium bovis infection in the brush-tailed possum (Trichosurus vulpecula): II. Comparison of experimental infections with an Australian cattle strain and a New Zealand possum strain. Veterinary Microbiology, 1981. 6(4): p. 351-366.
- 82. Byrom, A.E., et al., Assessing movements of brushtail possums (Trichosurus vulpecula) in relation to depopulated buffer zones for the management of wildlife tuberculosis in New Zealand. PloS One, 2015. **10**(12): p. e0145636.
- 83. Hutching, G., *Possums Possums in New Zealand*. 2008, Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand, <u>http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/possums/page-1</u>.
- 84. Parkes, J.P., et al., *Past, present and two potential futures for managing New Zealand's mammalian pests.* New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 2017. **41**(1): p. 151.
- 85. Duckworth, J., *Fertility control vaccines for possums: progress, challenges and prospects*. 2011, Protect Summer 2011, Landcare Research. p. 15-16.
- 86. Rodger, J. and K. Mate, *A PMSG/GnRH method for the superovulation of the monovulatory brush-tailed possum* (Trichosurus vulpecula). Journal of reproduction and fertility, 1988. **83**(2): p. 885-891.

- 87. Molinia, F., et al., *Successful fertilization after superovulation and laparoscopic intrauterine insemination of the brushtail possum*, Trichosurus vulpecula, *and tammar wallaby*, Macropus eugenii. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility, 1998. **113**(1): p. 9-17.
- Cowan, P., *Possum biocontrol: prospects for fertility regulation.* Reproduction, Fertility and Development, 1996.
 8(4): p. 655-660.
- 89. Deakin, J.E., *Marsupial genome sequences: providing insight into evolution and disease*. Scientifica, 2012. **2012**: p. 22.
- 90. Rouco, C., et al., *Population density estimates of brushtail possums* (Trichosurus vulpecula) *in dry grassland in New Zealand*. New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 2013: p. 12-17.
- 91. Sheppard, J., *Forecasts and "nowcasts" of possum distribution in New Zealand.* 2014. Kararehe Kino. **23**. p.21-23. Landcare Research. Lincoln.
- 92. Scottish Natural Heritage, *Stoat* (Mustela erminea) *on the Orkney Islands–assessing the risks to native species.* 2015. Edinburgh. UK.
- 93. Tennyson, A. and P. Martinson, The extinct birds of New Zealand. Te Papa Press: Wellington. 180 p, 2006.
- 94. Innes, J., et al., *Predation and other factors currently limiting New Zealand forest birds.* New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 2010. **34**(1): p. 86.
- 95. McIlroy, J. Susceptibility of target and non-target animals to 1080. in Proceedings of the Science Workshop on 1080. 1994. Royal Society of New Zealand Miscellaneous Series. No 28. p.90-96. Wellington
- 96. Wright, J., *Evaluating the use of 1080: predators, poisons and silent forests.* Report of the Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment, 2011.
- 97. Eason, C., Sodium monofluoroacetate (1080) risk assessment and risk communication. Toxicology, 2002. **181**: p. 523-530.
- 98. Carter, A., et al., *Controlling sympatric pest mammal populations in New Zealand with self-resetting, toxicant-free traps: a promising tool for invasive species management.* Biological Invasions, 2016. **18**(6): p. 1723-1736.
- 99. Ruffell, J., et al., *Using pest monitoring data to inform the location and intensity of invasive-species control in New Zealand*. Biological Conservation, 2015. **191**: p. 640-649.
- 100. Pech, R. and M. Maitland, *Conservation of native fauna in highly invaded systems: managing mammalian predators in New Zealand*. Restoration Ecology, 2016. **24**(6): p. 816-820.
- 101. O'Donnell, C.F., K.A. Weston, and J.M. Monks, *Impacts of introduced mammalian predators on New Zealand's alpine fauna*. New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 2017. **41**(1): p. 1-22.
- 102. Anistoroaei, R., et al., *An extended anchored linkage map and virtual mapping for the American mink genome based on homology to human and dog.* Genomics, 2009. **94**(3): p. 204-210.
- 103. Anistoroaei, R., et al., *Construction of an American mink Bacterial Artificial Chromosome (BAC) library and sequencing candidate genes important for the fur industry.* BMC Genomics, 2011. **12**(1): p. 354.
- 104. Capizzi, D., S. Bertolino, and A. Mortelliti, *Rating the rat: global patterns and research priorities in impacts and management of rodent pests.* Mammal Review, 2014. **44**(2): p. 148-162.
- 105. Kanavy, D. and M. Serr, *Sry gene drive for rodent control: reply to Gemmell and Tompkins.* Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 2017. **32**(5): p. 315-316.
- 106. Gibbs, R.A., et al., *Genome sequence of the brown Norway rat yields insights into mammalian evolution*. Nature, 2004. **428**(6982): p. 493-521.
- 107. Allan Wilson Centre, Pheno. 2015, Allan Wilson Centre: Palmerston North, New Zealand. p. 5.
- 108. Aitman, T.J., et al., *Progress and prospects in rat genetics: a community view*. Nature Genetics, 2008. **40**(5): p. 516-522.
- 109. Iannaccone, P.M. and H.J. Jacob, *Rats!* 2009, Disease Models & Mechanisms. 2. p.206-210
- 110. Pradhan, B.S. and S.S. Majumdar, *An efficient method for generation of transgenic rats avoiding embryo manipulation*. Molecular Therapy—Nucleic Acids, 2016. **5**(3): p. e293.
- 111. Piaggio, A.J., et al., *Is it time for synthetic biodiversity conservation?* Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 2017. **32**(2): p. 97-107.
- 112. Gemmell, N.J. and D.M. Tompkins, *Gene drives and rodent control: response to Piaggio et al.* Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 2017. **32**(5): p. 314-315.
- 113. Hudson, M., et al., *Te Mata Ira: Guidelines for genomic research with Māori*. 2016: Te Mata Hautū Taketake-Māori & Indigenous Governance Centre, University of Waikato.
- 114. Hudson, M., et al., *Te Ara Tika guidelines for Māori research ethics: A framework for researchers and ethics committee members.* Auckland: Health Research Council of New Zealand, 2010.
- 115. Kershen, D.L., Sustainability Council of New Zealand Trust v. The Environmental Protection Authority: Gene editing technologies and the law. GM Crops & Food, 2015. **6**(4): p. 216-222.
- 116. National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine, *Gene Drives on the Horizon: Advancing Science, Navigating Uncertainty, and Aligning Research with Public Values,* National Academies of Science, Editor. 2016, National Academies Press: United States of America.

- 117. Akbari, O.S., et al., Safeguarding gene drive experiments in the laboratory. Science, 2015. 349(6251): p. 927-929.
- 118. Noble, C., et al., Daisy-chain gene drives for the alteration of local populations. BioRxiv, 2016: p. 057307.
- 119. Carroll, D., Genome engineering with targetable nucleases. Annu Rev Biochem, 2014. 83: p. 409-39.
- 120. Champer, J., et al., Novel CRISPR/Cas9 gene drive constructs in Drosophila reveal insights into mechanisms of resistance allele formation and drive efficiency in genetically diverse populations. BioRxiv, 2017: p. 112011.
- 121. Miles, A., et al., *Natural diversity of the malaria vector Anopheles gambiae*. BioRxiv, 2016: p. 096289.
- 122. Hammond, A.M., et al., *The creation and selection of mutations resistant to a gene drive over multiple generations in the malaria mosquito*. BioRxiv, 2017: p. 149005.